Dear Faithful Catholics of the Cleveland Diocese,
Thank God, Heaven has finally given us a chance to deal with the BLATANT FINANCIAL
CORRUPTION, MASSIVE THIEVERY and COVERUPS, that HAS BEEN RAMPANT IN THE
ADMINISTRATION OF THE CLEVELAND DIOCESE AND OPEN DENIALS OF THE CATHOLIC
FAITH BY FACULTY IN OUR SEMINARY. (For documentation* see below! Zechariah 5:1-4!)
BISHOP RICHARD LENNON, HAS BEEN SENT HERE BY OUR HOLY FATHER in response to our
petitions for help in dealing with these massive problems. He now desperately needs an outcry from
thousands of faithful Catholics over these long standing problems for him to deal with this incredible mess or it will only be
topically treated. Bishop Lennon is a loyal Bishop but he cannot clean up this corruption that is destroying our Church without you sending
a very clear and strong message down town. Without your clear support for a full cleanup we will get little more than church closings in the
wake of the continual decline of the Church and the faith in Cleveland. Without your action we will deserve nothing more than exactly that!
Your words alone will not do! Hundreds of Catholics are going to have to say they are not giving one more dime to the Diocese until there is
complete openness and honesty about this massive corruption and until our Seminary becomes a place where blatant heresy and denials of the
Christian faith is no longer tolerated. The Lord God has finally given concerned Catholics here in Cleveland an important window of
opportunity. Our failure here means we will suffer a horrendous consequence. Here is what you must do to end this era of shame that has
descended upon us in Cleveland. But first get your cowardly head out of the sand and face the truth about our crisis!! Then decide to do
something besides blaming and complaining!!

1. MAKE COPIES of this to hand out to all the parishioners in your parish and to your Catholic family members
and friends in other Cleveland parishes.
2. CLIP THE FORM BELOW expressing your complete support for Bishop Lennon to thoroughly clean up this
Diocese and your decision to no longer give to any fund that will be taxed by the Diocesan office. MONEY IS
THE ONLY THING THAT WILL TALK. PUT THIS IN THE OFFERING PLATE and it will get to our Bishop.
3. CLEARLY MARK YOUR OFFERING ENVELOPES: “FOR OUR BUILDING FUND ONLY!” If you have
such a fund, this will go entirely to your parish for any use! (But ask your priest about giving only to your parish!)
4. If you are in a parish that regularly and openly is promoting positions clearly contrary to Catholic faith, ALSO
withhold all funds from your parish and make that notation on the slip below and put it in the offering plate to also
GO TO OUR BISHOP. But make sure you put it in a sealed mailing envelope! Your inaction is a vote to let the
corruption of the Church and its faith in Cleveland continue!

Concerned Cleveland Catholics for Restoring Confidence in our Church. (CCRCC)
“Ecumenical not Heretical!” P.O. Box 1404, Medina, OH 44258

*For the shocking documentation of this massive financial scandal and blatant anti-Catholic attacks on the faith promoted in
this Diocese and by our Seminary go to www.saveourchurch.org and go to their “latest scandals:” Also down-load this flyer
from that website and distribute to every member in your parish. http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/ohn/news/SMITH_INDICTMENT.PDF
Sept. 10, 2006
-------------------------------------------------------- clip and place in your parish offering plate----------------------------------------------------------------

Date:
The Most Reverend Richard G. Lennon,
I wish to let you know of my sincere prayers for you as you deal with the many serious problems in this Diocese
which surround you. Nothing but absolute openness and a thorough clean up of our massive financial scandal and
the incredible toleration of liturgical abuse, of heresy and anti-Catholic teaching in our Seminary will be sufficient.
I am deeply grieved about these matters and feel it a grievous sin against God, and the Church to continue
supporting the Diocese that does not deal fully and openly with these very grievous sins. If we give to our Parish it
will be in ways that cannot be taxed by the Diocese until we see evidence of a major and thorough cleanup of these
scandalous offenses.
Sincerely, ____________________________
A faithful member of ___________________Parish.

Zechariah 5:1-4

MORE CRIMES IN THE CLEVELAND CATHOLIC
DIOCESE?

Contents:
Cleveland Channel 5 News Story Aug. 23, 2006
Scene Magazine “Crimes Against Catholics” Sept. 6-12, 2006
News Release: US Attorney of Northern Ohio, Greg White Aug, 16, 2006

The Indictments:

http://www.usdoj.gov/usao/ohn/news/SMITH_INDICTMENT.PDF

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.
JOSEPH H. SMITH, and
ANTON ZGOZNIK,
Defendants.
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Former Bishop Pilla Implicated In Alleged Kickback Scheme
Former CEO's Attorney Says Pilla Knew About Payments From Secret Account
POSTED: 6:38 pm EDT August 23, 2006
UPDATED: 7:49 pm EDT August 23, 2006

CLEVELAND -- There is a new development in an alleged kickback scheme within the Catholic Diocese of Cleveland.
New allegations implicate that former Bishop Anthony Pilla gave the green light for a secret church bank account, 5 On Your
Side investigator Ron Regan reported.
Former diocese CFO Joseph Smith and another former employee, Anton Zgoznik both pleaded not guilty in federal court on
Wednesday to charges that include conspiracy, mail fraud and money laundering.
The case involves millions of dollars in church-related business and whether the former employees illegally profited from it.
Unitl now, the role that Pilla played in the alleged scheme remained a mystery.
Smith is accused of being paid $270,000 in a secret church account. Lawyers for Zgoznik said that their client was not only
authorized to make those payments but that top church officials knew about them, including the recently retired bishop.
"The chief financial officer was aware of it, the committee that reviewed the finances made up of lay people and priests were
aware of it, the CPA firm that audited the books every year was aware of it, the bishop was aware of it, and now because of
the multi problems, I think, in this diocese, people are just saying, 'Oh no, we didn't know and we didn't authorize,' so it's a
tragedy," said defense attorney Robert Rotatori.

Smith allegedly received another $784,000 in kickbacks in return for steering more than $17 million in church business to
outside companies owned by Zgoznik.
Smith's attorney said the payments are not what they appear to be.
"We think that there are some misunderstandings which we hope to clear up and we look forward to doing so at trial, in the
courtroom with the jury," said attorney Philip Kushner.
Both Smith and Zgoznik are free on $50,000 bond, although Smith was ordered to wear an electronic monitoring device and
remain at home between the hours of 10 p.m. and 6 a.m.
A trial date has been set for Nov. 6.
Previous Stories:

•
•

August 23, 2006: Man Enters Not Guilty Plea To Defrauding Catholic Diocese
August 17, 2006: Indictment: Former Diocese CFO Received Kickbacks

Copyright 2006 by NewsNet5. All rights reserved. This material may not be published, broadcast, rewritten or redistributed.
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(216) 622-3820
John E. Sullivan
Trial Attorney, U.S. Department of Justice, Tax Division
Gregory A. White, United States Attorney for the Northern District of Ohio, announced today that a
federal grand jury returned a 27-count indictment against Joseph H. Smith and Anton Zgoznik, charging
them with conspiring to defraud the Catholic Diocese of Cleveland, conspiring to defraud the Internal
Revenue Service, and other related charges. According to public records, Smith resides at 3996 Shireton
Drive, Dublin, Ohio, and Zgoznik resides at 9495 Winterberry Lane, Kirtland Hills, Ohio. Smith is
charged in 23 counts and Zgoznik is charged in 15 counts, as follows:
Count

Defendant(s)

Offense

1

Smith and
Zgoznik

Conspiracy to commit mail fraud

2-9

Smith and
Zgoznik

Mail fraud

10-17

Smith

Money laundering

18

Smith and
Zgoznik

Conspiracy to defraud the IRS

19-22

Smith

Making false personal income tax returns

23

Smith and
Zgoznik

Corrupt endeavor to obstruct tax laws regarding
Smith’s 1999 income tax return

24-27

Zgoznik

Aiding & assisting preparation of false corporate
income tax document and returns

According to the indictment, Smith worked in the Finance and Legal Office of the Cleveland Catholic
Diocese for several years through February 17, 2004, serving in the relevant time period as Treasurer,
Chief Financial Officer, and eventually Financial and Legal Secretary beginning in mid-2000. The
indictment alleges that from approximately June 1997 through February 2004, Smith and Zgoznik

conspired to defraud and obtain money from the Diocese through a scheme by which Smith, in violation
of his duty of honest service as a Diocese official, steered substantial outsourced business from the
Diocese and its constituent organizations to companies controlled by Zgoznik in consideration for which
and while receiving substantial undisclosed kickback payments from some of those companies. The
indictment alleges that the Diocese paid approximately $17,533,330 to Zgoznik’s companies from 1996
through 2003 and that Zgoznik’s companies paid kickbacks totaling approximately $784,627 to Smith
during 1997 through 2003. The two defendants allegedly disguised the kickbacks in part by having
Zgoznik’s companies pay the kickbacks by checks payable to a golf paraphernalia business operated by
Smith (Tee Sports, Inc.) and to another business name used by Smith (JHS Enterprises), as purported
payments for legal, consulting, and other services not actually rendered by Smith, at times supported by
fictitious invoices from Tee Sports and JHS. In addition to the conspiracy charge, the indictment charges
Smith and Zgoznik with eight counts of mail fraud for executing the kickback scheme.
The indictment further charges that Smith and Zgoznik conspired to defraud the Internal Revenue Service
through a scheme designed to conceal the income Smith received from the kickback payments and other
funds Smith received from the Diocese and to conceal and disguise the tax consequences to Smith and
Zgoznik’s companies. As part of the conspiracy, Zgoznik allegedly improperly deducted the kickbacks as
consulting and other expenses, while Smith failed to report the kickbacks paid by checks to Tee Sports
(through the year 2002) and disguised the kickbacks payable to JHS Enterprises as purported business
income on his federal income tax returns. Smith further offset the purported JHS Enterprises business
income by allegedly claiming improper business deductions against that income. To further conceal his
kickback income, Smith deposited the kickback checks payable to Tee Sports into an account in his name,
doing business as Tee Sports, which he opened using the Tee Sports corporate tax identification number
but which he used as a personal account (the “DBA Tee Sports Account”). During an IRS audit of
Smith’s 1999 return, Zgoznik, as his representative, allegedly provided false and misleading information
to the IRS agent, indicating that Smith had earned the JHS Enterprises income as fees for legal and CPA
services to a number of clients, and failing to disclose the kickback income paid by checks to Tee Sports.
During a subsequent audit of one of Zgoznik’s companies, Zgoznik allegedly caused false information
and some of the fictitious invoices used in the kickback scheme to be presented to the IRS agent in
support of the false deductions claimed on the corporate returns.
In addition to the kickbacks, Smith, with Zgoznik’s assistance, allegedly received $270,000 above his
regular salary in the form of two transfers from Diocese funds -- in 1996 and 1997 -- to an account
maintained at Fidelity Investments in the name and tax identification number of the Diocese, but using
Smith’s residence address (referred to in the indictment as the “DOC Fidelity Account”). Smith allegedly
used the account as a personal investment account but did not report the income he received from the
transfers and from subsequent dividend, capital gains, and interest income from the account on his federal
income tax returns.
In addition to the tax conspiracy, the indictment charges Smith with making false personal income tax
returns for the years 1999 through 2002, on which he failed to report or disguised his kickback income
and failed to report his income from the DOC Fidelity Account. The indictment also charges Zgoznik
with aiding and assisting in the filing of false corporation income tax returns (and one unsigned return
submitted during an audit), which improperly deducted the kickback payments to Smith as purported
business expenses. Additionally, the indictment charges Smith and Zgoznik jointly with corruptly
endeavoring to obstruct and impede the administration of the tax laws involving Zgoznik’s presentation of
false information and documents to an IRS Agent during an audit of Smith’s 1999 income tax return.

Finally, the indictment charges Smith with eight counts of money laundering involving his alleged use of
the DBA Tee Sports account to issue checks for personal expenses in an effort to conceal and disguise,
the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of mail fraud proceeds.
If convicted, each defendant’s sentence will be determined by the Court after review of factors unique to
this case, including the defendant’s prior criminal record, if any, the defendant’s role in the offense and
the characteristics of the violation. In all cases the sentence will not exceed the statutory maximum and in
most cases it will be less than the maximum.
The government’s case is being prosecuted by Assistant United States Attorney John M. Siegel, and U.S.
Department of Justice Trial Attorney John E. Sullivan, following an investigation by the Internal Revenue
Service, Criminal Investigation Division, the U.S. Postal Inspection Service, and the Federal Bureau of
Investigation, Cleveland, Ohio.
An indictment is only a charge and is not evidence of guilt. A defendant is entitled to a fair trial in which
it will be the government’s burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt’
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,
v.
JOSEPH H. SMITH, and
ANTON ZGOZNIK,
Defendants.
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INDICTMENT
CR. NO.
Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 371, 1341, 1346, 1349, and
1956(a)(1)(B)(i);
Title 26, United States Code, Sections
7206(1), 7206(2), and 7212(a)

INDEX
GENERAL ALLEGATIONS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 3 of 41 COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1349
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 15 of 41 COUNTS 2 - 9
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Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 18 of 41 COUNTS 10 - 17
Money Laundering, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 21 of 41 COUNT 18
Conspiracy to Defraud the IRS, 18 U.S.C. § 371
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 22 of 41 - 2 of 41 COUNT 19
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 1999 Form 1040 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 27 of 41 COUNT 20
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2000 Form 1040 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 29 of 41 COUNT 21
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2001 Form 1040 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 31 of 41 COUNT 22
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2002 Form 1040 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 32 of 41 COUNT 23
Corruptly Endeavoring to Obstruct and Impede, 26 U.S.C. § 7212(a),
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK
Re: IRS audit of SMITH’s 1999 Form 1040 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 34 of 41 COUNT 24
Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Document, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2),
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: ZJA unsigned Form 1120 for
tax year June 2000 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 36 of 41 COUNT 25
Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120 for tax year June 2001
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Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120 for tax year June 2002
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 39 of 41 COUNT 27
Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120S for
tax period July-December 2002 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . - 40 of 41 - 3 of 41 -

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
The Grand Jury charges:
The Catholic Diocese of Cleveland (“Diocese”) and related entities
At relevant times:
1. The Catholic Diocese of Cleveland (“Diocese”) was an Ohio charitable trust
which operated, supervised, and/or provided services to numerous Catholic organizations and
institutions (hereinafter “constituent organizations”) within an eight-county geographical area in
the north-central part of Ohio. The administration of the Diocese was organized by major areas
of responsibility into administrative components, mostly designated as Secretariats, each headed
by a Secretary or other senior official appointed by the Bishop. One of the administrative
components was the Financial and Legal Office, headed by the Financial and Legal Secretary.
The Bishop and auxiliary bishops had supervisory authority over the Secretaries and other senior
officials.
2. The Diocese had a Diocesan Financial Advisory Committee (also referred to as
the Advisory Council or Canonical Advisors), presided over by the Bishop or his delegated
representative, consisting of lay persons appointed by the Bishop, which had responsibilities for
advising the Bishop and the Financial and Legal Secretary on financial matters and approving
certain Diocese expenditures.
3. The Catholic Cemeteries Association (“CCA”) was a separate corporate entity
from the Diocese, the operations of which were under the supervisory authority of the Diocese
Financial and Legal Office.
- 4 of 41 4. The Borromeo Seminary, St. Mary’s Seminary, and the Center for Pastoral
Leadership (also jointly hereinafter “the Seminaries”) were each separate corporate entities from
the Diocese, under the supervisory authority of the Diocese Secretariat for Clergy and Religious.
5. The Office of Education was a Secretariat of the Diocese, the responsibilities of
which included supervision over nine Diocesan-owned high schools.
Defendant JOSEPH H. SMITH and related entities
6. Defendant JOSEPH H. SMITH (“SMITH”) was employed by the Diocese in the
Financial and Legal Office from the early 1980s through February 17, 2004. During the relevant
time period, he initially held the positions of Treasurer and then Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”), with principal responsibilities for the Diocese Finance Office under the supervision of
the Financial and Legal Secretary. In approximately mid-2000, he was promoted to be Financial
and Legal Secretary, while continuing to maintain the position of CFO. During the relevant time
period, he was a licensed attorney and a certified public accountant (“CPA”) and resided in
Westlake and then Avon Lake, Ohio.
7. Upon becoming Financial and Legal Secretary, SMITH’s compensation was
determined annually by the Bishop, upon recommendation of the Diocesan Financial Advisory
Committee.
8. SMITH was also a member of the Boards of Trustees of the Catholic Cemeteries
Association, the Center for Pastoral Leadership, and the Borromeo and St. Mary Seminaries.
9. In his employment at the Diocese, SMITH had a duty to provide honest services

to the Diocese, its constituent organizations, and the members of the public to whom the Diocese
had a fiduciary duty as a charitable trust.
- 5 of 41 10. Tee Sports, Inc. At all relevant times, SMITH was the sole owner and operator
of a corporation known as Tee Sports, Inc. (“Tee Sports”), which was engaged in the business of
selling golf paraphernalia and other items and occasionally consulting on the operation of golf
outings. SMITH disclosed his ownership of Tee Sports and its above-described business
activities to Diocese officials and the Financial Advisory Committee, representing that he
conducted Tee Sports business from his home primarily during evenings and weekends.
11. SMITH prepared and filed corporate income tax returns for Tee Sports, Inc., as a
taxable entity through the year 2002. For the year 2003, he elected Subchapter S corporation
status for Tee Sports, Inc., making the corporation’s income reportable on his personal tax
returns on a flow-through basis.
12. JHS Enterprises. SMITH used the name JHS Enterprises to receive and disburse
funds for various purposes. JHS Enterprises did not have a independent legal existence. SMITH
reported certain financial transactions using the name JHS Enterprises on Schedule C of his
personal income tax returns, as a purported sole proprietorship business.
13. At all relevant times, SMITH maintained a bank account in the name of JHS
Enterprises at Provident Bank (account number ending “547” -- hereinafter the “JHS Enterprises
Account”).
14. On or about March 31, 1999, SMITH applied for P.O. Box 40092, in Bay Village,
Ohio, in the names of JHS Enterprises and Tee Sports, which he maintained at all relevant times
thereafter.
- 6 of 41 Defendant ANTON ZGOZNIK and related entities
15. From approximately October 1995 through January 1997, defendant ANTON
ZGOZNIK performed services for the Diocese in the Financial and Legal Office as an
independent contractor. From approximately February 1997 through January 1999, he was an
employee of the Diocese, in the Financial and Legal Office, holding the position of Assistant
Treasurer. From approximately February 1999 through the end of 2003, ZGOZNIK continued to
serve as Assistant Treasurer on an “outsourced” basis through an agreement between the Diocese
and certain accounting and consulting firms he controlled.
16. During the period from approximately October 1996 through at least December
2003, ZGOZNIK was the principal or sole owner of a number of corporations, which provided
accounting, tax, financial, and computer technology services, with the principal clients being the
Diocese and certain of its constituent organizations. The corporations, which will also be
referred to herein collectively as the “ZGOZNIK Entities,” are described as follows:
ZJ & Associates, Inc. (“ZJA”), later re-named Institutional Financial Advisors, Inc.
(“IFA”)
a. On approximately October 1, 1996, ZGOZNIK and Zrino Jukic established a business known as ZJ &
Associates, Inc. (“ZJA”), located in Mentor, Ohio. SMITH did the legal work to incorporate the business

for them. In December 2001, the corporation’s name was changed to Institutional Financial Advisors, Inc.
(“IFA”). The corporation will also be referred to herein as “ZJA/IFA.”
b. Throughout the existence of ZJA/IFA, Jukic was held out to be the President and owner of the
company, with the initials “ZJ” supposedly representing Jukic’s
- 7 of 41 name, when, in fact, ZGOZNIK was the true owner and exercised the principal control over the
company. In approximately late 2002, Jukic’s active relationship with IFA ended.
Institutional Business Systems, Inc. (“IBS”), and its predecessor entities
c. On approximately July 1, 1999, ZGOZNIK incorporated Monastra &
Associates, Inc. In April 2001, ZGOZNIK renamed the corporation Zgoznik & Associates, Inc.
In February 2003, he again renamed the corporation Institutional Business Solutions, Inc.
(“IBS”). ZGOZNIK initially had a 99 percent ownership and later became the sole owner.
d. During most of its existence, IBS and predecessors did business as a public accounting firm. Beginning
in early 2003, ZGOZNIK stopped using IFA as a business entity and began using IBS to provide the same
consulting/accounting services to the Diocese and constituent organizations that ZJA/IFA had provided.
In 2003, ZGOZNIK also used IBS to provide computer technology services.
Alexander Systems Group, Inc.
e. On approximately July 1, 1999, ZGOZNIK incorporated Alexander
Systems Group, a computer technology consulting business for which he was the sole owner. In
February 2003, he changed the name of the corporation to Zgoznik and Associates, Inc. (at the
same time the corporation previously using that name became IBS).
Diocese Outsourcing of Services to the Zgoznik Entities
17. From early 1996 through December 2003, SMITH caused and induced certain
offices and departments of the Diocese and certain of its constituent organizations, including but
not limited to the CCA, the Seminaries, and the Diocesan-owned high schools, to retain the
services of the Zgoznik Entities to perform accounting, computer, financial, and other related
- 8 of 41 services, including outsourcing of certain functions previously performed in-house by the
Diocese and those constituent organizations. The Diocese, CCA, Seminaries, and Diocesanowned
high schools together paid approximately the following amounts to Zgnozik Entities
during these years:
Year
Amounts paid by the Diocese and constituent
organizations to the Zgoznik Entities
1996 $12,090
1997 $618,378
1998 $1,263,447
1999 $2,048,588
2000 $2,867,345
2001 $3,190,567
2002 $3,819,699
2003 $3,713,216
TOTAL $17,533,330

Kickback Scheme with the Zgoznik Entities
18. From approximately June 1997 through February 2004, ZGOZNIK and SMITH
devised and executed a scheme to defraud and to obtain money by false and fraudulent pretenses,
representations, and promises, by which SMITH, in violation of his duty of honest services to the
Diocese, its constituent organizations, and the members of the public to whom the Diocese had a
fiduciary duty as a charitable trust, and to the financial detriment of the Diocese and its
constituent organizations, steered substantial business to the Zgoznik Entities in consideration
for which and while receiving substantial undisclosed kickback payments from ZJA, IFA, and
IBS -- as described in more detail in the following paragraphs.
- 9 of 41 19. SMITH caused and induced the Diocese and certain of its constituent
organizations to retain and pay the Zgoznik Entities to perform outsourced services, without
disclosing on the records of the Diocese or to officials responsible for finances of the Diocese
and the constituent organizations that he was receiving substantial kickbacks from certain of the
Zgoznik Entities, namely, ZJA, IFA, and IBS.
20. The Zgoznik Entities billed and received payments from the Diocese and
constituent organizations for the outsourced services. In many instances, particularly with
respect to the billings to and payments by the CCA, the Seminaries, the Office of Catholic
Education, and some Diocese-owned high schools, the billings and payments were sent by U.S.
mail.
21. ZGOZNIK and SMITH caused the Diocese and constituent organizations to pay
for more outsourced services by the Zgoznik Entities and to pay higher costs for the outsourcing
than they would otherwise have paid in order to generate funds to pay the kickbacks to SMITH.
22. In at least one instance in 2002 and on some invoices in 2003, ZGOZNIK caused
invoices from a Zgoznik Entity to the Diocese to inflate the amount billed for purported services
to the Diocese by an amount to cover the next kickback check paid to SMITH.
23. SMITH and ZGOZNIK disguised the kickback arrangement by having ZJA, and
later IFA and then IBS, pay the kickbacks by checks payable to JHS Enterprises and Tee Sports,
Inc., for purported business services. The kickbacks were paid in the following yearly amounts:
Year Checks payable to JHS
Enterprises
Checks payable to Tee Sports, Inc.
Total
1997 $38,050.00 none $38,050.00
- 10 of 41 Year Checks payable to JHS
Enterprises
Checks payable to Tee Sports, Inc.
Total
1998 $101,735.00 none $101,735.00
1999 $77,963.75 $33,634.00 $111,597.75
2000 $86,375.00 $106,932.00 $193,307.00
2001 $112,752.50 none $112,752.50
2002 $83,650.00 $31,260.00 $114,910.00

2003 none $112,275.00 $112,275.00
Total $500,526.25 $284,101.00 $784,627.25
24. ZGOZNIK caused the kickback payments from his entities to be falsely recorded
on the books and records of those corporations as being payments for purported legal,
consulting, and other services which SMITH and his business entities did not, in fact, render to
those ZGOZNIK entities.
25. In many instances, false and fictitious invoices from Tee Sports, Inc., and JHS
Enterprises were prepared and maintained in the records of ZJA and IFA for purported legal,
consulting and other services, which SMITH and Tee Sports, Inc., did not, in fact, perform, as
documentation to conceal the true nature of the kickback payments.
26. SMITH deposited the kickback checks payable to JHS Enterprises into the JHS
Enterprises Account and recorded the deposits on a register he maintained for that account as
consulting income.
27. On or about May 3, 1999, SMITH opened a bank account in the name of Joseph
H. Smith, DBA Tee Sports, Inc., at Fifth Third Bank (account number ending “739” -hereinafter the “DBA Tee Sports Account”). SMITH listed the federal tax identification number
for the corporation, Tee Sports, Inc., on the account opening document. SMITH made the initial
- 11 of 41 deposit with the first kickback check from ZJA payable to Tee Sports, Inc. SMITH thereafter
deposited all but two of the kickback checks payable in the name of Tee Sports, Inc., into the
DBA Tee Sports Account. At all relevant times, SMITH used the DBA Tee Sports account
primarily or exclusively for personal purposes, and not to conduct the legitimate business
activities of Tee Sports, Inc.
28. During 2003, SMITH misled the Diocesan Financial Advisory Council by
misrepresenting the amount paid by the Diocese to the Zgoznik Entities for outsourced services.
29. During early 2004, after the Diocese received anonymous information of the
payments to SMITH from the Zgoznik Entities:
a. ZGOZNIK misled the Diocese by presenting false and misleading
documents that concealed the kickback arrangement with SMITH and the inflating of certain
invoices to cover kickback payments to SMITH, and
b. SMITH misled the Diocese by falsely representing that payments he
received from the Zgoznik Entities were for actual services he had rendered to those entities.
The DOC Fidelity Account Scheme
30. In approximately March 1996, an arrangement was made between SMITH and
the then Financial and Legal Secretary, for SMITH to be paid a substantial lump-sum payment,
in addition to his regular salary, in order for him to remain at the Diocese, rather than seeking a
more lucrative position in the private sector. The understanding was that the payment would be
in lieu of any additional raises for the next five years, other than cost of living increases.
ZGOZNIK participated in the arrangement by helping to urge the Financial and Legal Secretary
to agree to the payment and by helping transfer the Diocese funds under the arrangement.
- 12 of 41 31. To effectuate the above arrangement, a not-for-profit organization account was set
up at Fidelity Investments using the tax identification number of the Diocese, under the account

name “D.O.C. Special Administration” (hereinafter the “DOC Fidelity Account”), with SMITH
and the Financial and Legal Secretary as the authorized individuals to transact business, using
SMITH’s home address as the mailing address. The account was opened on approximately April
1, 1996, with an initial deposit of $185,000, made by a Diocese check payable in that amount to
Fidelity Investments. A purported memo to Smith was created, stating that the $185,000 was
being transferred into “a Special Administration account held outside of the Finance Office to
handle sensitive items impacting the Diocese.”
32. In August 1997, SMITH and ZGOZNIK caused an additional $85,000 of Diocese
funds to be deposited into the DOC Fidelity Account by another Diocese check.
33. No formal entries were made on the Diocese records to reflect that SMITH
received the $270,000 as compensation, and the Diocese did not report the benefit SMITH
received from this account to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) on any tax reporting form.
34. At all times, SMITH used the DOC Fidelity Account as a personal investment
account, through which he received the entire benefit of the $270,000 of Diocese funds deposited
into the account. He made purchases and sales of stocks and other securities and periodically
withdrew funds from the account for personal expenditures through approximately August 2002,
when the account was left with a minimal balance. SMITH, however, did not report the
$270,000 deposited into the account, his receipt of funds withdrawn from the account, or any
dividends, capital gains, or other income generated from account activity on his federal income
tax returns.
- 13 of 41 Payments to SMITH through the Catholic Cemeteries Association (“CCA”)
35. In January of 1997, 1998, 1999, and 2000, SMITH, without authorization, caused
Diocese funds to be paid to him, indirectly by checks from the CCA to JHS Enterprises, as
follows:
36. In January of each of the four years 1997 through 2000, SMITH caused the CCA
to issue a check payable to JHS Enterprises, which he deposited to the JHS Enterprises Account.
The 1997 check was in the amount of $12,500; in each of the other three years the check was in
the amount of $15,000. Each check was recorded on the books of the CCA as being for
executive and professional services.
37. Following the issuance of each check, SMITH caused the Diocese Finance Office
to issue a check in the same amount payable to the CCA. Each check was recorded on the books
of the Diocese Finance Office as a reimbursement of part of the yearly fee (or “administrative
tax”) the Diocese charged the CCA for Diocesan services.
38. No formal entries were made on the Diocese records to reflect that SMITH
received the yearly payments from the CCA as compensation, and the payments to SMITH were
not reported to the IRS by either the Diocese or the CCA on any tax reporting form.
39. SMITH concealed and disguised his receipt of the CCA January payments by not
reporting the income on some of his federal income tax returns and by including the amount in
the gross receipts reported on the JHS Enterprises Schedule C on at least one of his returns.
SMITH’s Kickback Scheme with an Insurance Brokerage Firm
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40. During the relevant time period, SMITH arranged for the Diocese to retain the
Cleveland office of an insurance brokerage firm (“Insurance Firm”) to provide periodic
insurance consulting services to the Diocese and to serve as a broker for obtaining certain
insurance coverage for the Diocese.
41. Beginning in approximately May 1994 and continuing through approximately
December 2000, SMITH, without Diocese authorization, received monthly kickback payments
from the Insurance Firm, by checks payable to JHS Enterprises. The monthly payments were in
the amount of $833 until approximately May 1998, when they increased to $1,250.
42. Until approximately May 1998, the monthly payments were recorded on the
books of the Insurance Firm as being for supposed consulting services provided by SMITH to
the Insurance Firm, even though SMITH provided no regular monthly services.
43. In approximately May 1998, SMITH and an Insurance Firm executive signed a
purported lease agreement, seemingly providing for the Insurance Firm to lease a condominium
SMITH owned at the Saddlebrook Resort in Tampa, Florida, at monthly lease charge of $1,250.
Despite the purported lease, Smith kept full control over the condominium.
44. SMITH concealed and disguised his receipt of the kickback payments from the
Insurance Firm by not reporting the income on some of his federal income tax returns and by
including the amounts in the gross receipts reported on the JHS Enterprises Schedule C on at
least one of his returns.
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COUNT 1
Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1349
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. From approximately June 1997 through February 2004, the exact dates unknown
to the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, the
defendants, JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK, did unlawfully, willfully and
knowingly, conspire, combine, confederate, and agree together and with each other and with
others, both known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit offenses in violation of Title 18,
United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346, to wit, mail fraud.
3. The object of the conspiracy was to devise and execute a scheme and artifice to
defraud the Diocese, its constituent organizations, and the members of the public to whom the
Diocese owed a fiduciary duty and to obtain money from the Diocese by means of false and
fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, to wit, the Kickback Scheme with the
Zgoznik Entities alleged in paragraphs 18-29 of the General Allegations.
Manner and Means of Carrying Out the Conspiracy
4. The manner and means of carrying out of the conspiracy included, but were not
limited to, the conduct alleged as the Kickback Scheme with the Zgoznik Entities in paragraphs
18-29 of the General Allegations.
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Overt Acts
On and after July 30, 2002, in furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect its illegal
objects, the following overt acts, among others, were committed in the Northern District of Ohio,
Eastern Division, and elsewhere:
5. On approximately a monthly basis during the period from July 30, 2002, through
December 31, 2003, the Zgoznik Entities sent invoices for outsourced services to the Diocese,
components of the Diocese, and constituent organizations, at the Diocese office in Cleveland,
Ohio.
6. On approximately a monthly basis, during the period from July 30, 2002, through
December 31, 2003, the Zgoznik Entities sent invoices for outsourced services by United States
mail to the following Catholic organizations or institutions, at the addresses indicated below:
Entities issuing the invoices
Entities Receiving the invoices
Address
a. Alexander Systems
Group (“ASG”), IFA,
and IBS
Catholic Cemeteries
Association (“CCA”)
10000 Miles Avenue,
Cleveland, Ohio 44105
b. IFA and IBS St. Mary Seminary,
Borromeo Seminary, and
Center for Pastoral
Leadership
28700 Euclid Avenue,
Wickliffe, Ohio 44092
7. From August 2002 through December 2003, the Diocese sent checks to the
Zgoznik Entities in payment of invoices for outsourced services.
- 17 of 41 8. From August 2002 through December 2003, defendants SMITH and ZGOZNIK
and co-conspirators, the following Catholic organizations or institutions sent checks by United
States mail to the following Zgoznik Entities at 7325 Production Drive, Mentor, Ohio, in
payment of invoices for outsourced services, indicated below:
Catholic organization or institution issuing the checks
Zgoznik Entities to which the checks were payable
a. CCA ASG, IFA, and IBS
b. Center for Pastoral Leadership, in
payment of invoices to the Center
and to the St. Mary and Borromeo
Seminaries
IFA and IBS
9. From August 2002 through December 2003, defendant ZGOZNIK made kickback

payments to SMITH by issuing and causing to be issued checks from IFA and IBS payable to
JHS Enterprises and Tee Sports, some of which were addressed to P.O. Box 40092, Bay Village,
Ohio, as follows:
a. Three checks dated from August 19 through October 16, 2002, from IFA
to JHS Enterprises, totaling $24,675.
b. Six checks dated from December 3, 2002, through March 25, 2003, from
IFA to Tee Sports, totaling $55,235.
c. Nine checks dated from May 2 through December 29, 2003, from IBS to
Tee Sports, totaling $73,300.
10. On or about January 6, 2004, SMITH made false representations to a member of
the Diocesan Financial Advisors and a Diocese attorney, that the payments he received from the
Zgoznik Entities were for actual services SMITH claimed to have rendered to those Entities.
- 18 of 41 11. During January or February 2004, ZGOZNIK caused false and misleading written
statements to be presented to the Diocese in response to a Diocese request for backup
documentation for IBS invoices to the Diocese.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371, as punishable under Title
18, United States Code, Section 1349.
COUNTS 2 - 9
Mail Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1346
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
Scheme to Defraud
2. During the period from approximately June 1997 through February 2004, the
defendants, JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK, devised and intended to devise a
scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money by means of false and fraudulent pretenses
and representations, to wit, the Kickback Scheme with the Zgoznik Entities alleged in
paragraphs 18-29 of the General Allegations.
3. During the periods listed below, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern
Division, defendants SMITH and ZGOZNIK, for the purpose of executing the aforesaid scheme
and artifice, and attempting to do so, would and did place and caused to be placed in a post
office and an authorized depository for mail to be sent and delivered by the United States Postal
Service and would and did knowingly cause to be delivered by the United States mail according
- 19 of 41 to the directions thereon, envelopes containing the items listed below, which were addressed as
stated below:
COUNT 2: For the period from approximately July 30 to December 31, 2002,

envelopes containing invoices from IFA to CCA, including but not limited
to:
Invoice date Invoice number Amount
07/30/2002 17160 $11,283
12/31/2002 17630 $22,236
COUNT 3: For the period from approximately August 22, 2002, to February 3, 2003,
envelopes containing checks from CCA to IFA, including but not limited
to:
Check date Check number Amount
08/22/2002 059048 $11,283
02/03/2003 061373 $23,236
COUNT 4: For the period from approximately January 31 to October 31, 2003,
envelopes containing invoices from IBS to CCA, including but not limited
to:
Invoice date Invoice number Amount
01/31/2003 2003FebIBS45 $11,258
10/31/2003 18583 $33,748
COUNT 5: For the period from approximately March 10 to December 5, 2003,
envelopes containing checks from CCA to IBS, including but not limited
to:
Check date Check number Amount
03/10/2003 061846 $11,258
12/05/2003 065099 $16,083
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envelopes containing invoices from IFA to the Center for Pastoral
Leadership, including but not limited to:
Invoice date Invoice number Amount
08/31/2002 17313 $4,000
12/31/2002 17640 $8,000
COUNT 7: For the period from approximately August 22, 2002, to January 23, 2003,
envelopes containing checks from the Center for Pastoral Leadership to
IFA, including but not limited to:
Check date Check number Amount
08/22/2002 23415 $6,000
01/23/2003 24231 $12,000
COUNT 8: For the period from approximately January 31 to November 30, 2003,
envelopes containing invoices from IBS to the Center for Pastoral
Leadership, including but not limited to:
Invoice date Invoice number Amount
01/31/2003 2003FebIBS31 $4,000
11/30/2003 18622 $1,000

COUNT 9: For the period from approximately February 24 to December 22, 2003,
envelopes containing checks from the Center for Pastoral Leadership to
IBS, including but not limited to:
Check date Check number Amount
02/24/2003 24423 $6,000
12/22/2003 26078 $3,000
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 1346.
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Money Laundering, 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern
Division, the defendant, JOSEPH H. SMITH, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct the
following financial transactions affecting interstate and foreign commerce, which involved the
proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is mail fraud in violation of Title 18, Sections 1341
and 1346, United States Code, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole and in part to
conceal and disguise, the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of said
specified unlawful activity and that while conducting and attempting to conduct such financial
transactions, the defendant knew that the property involved in the financial transactions -- that is,
the checks described below -- represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity.
3. Each financial transaction charged in Counts 10 through 17 was a payment by a
check issued on the DBA Tee Sports Account at Fifth Third Bank, a federally-insured financial
institution engaged in business in and affecting interstate commerce, as follows:
Count Date Check No. Amount Payee and type of expense
10 04/25/2002 1060 $9,000.00 Fidelity Investments - deposit to personal
investment account of SMITH
11 04/29/2002 1061 $1,500.00 Fifth Third Funds - deposit to personal
investment account of SMITH
12 07/10/2002 1064 $3,218.87 Contemporary Landscapes - payment for
services at SMITH’s family residence
- 22 of 41 Count Date Check No. Amount Payee and type of expense
13 02/10/2003 1106 $1,741.75 Smart Tuition - payment of school
tuition for SMITH’s daughter
14 05/21/2003 1179 $1,300.78 Saddlebrook Resort - payment on resort
membership account for SMITH and his wife
15 08/18/2003 1209 $2,100.00 Holy Trinity School - payment of school
tuition for SMITH’s son
16 10/22/2003 1233 $1,722.72 South Trust Mortgage Corp. - mortgage
loan payment for condominium owned
by SMITH and his wife in Florida
17 01/13/2004 1251 $1,949.93 Fairway Association, Inc. - payment of
charges relating to condominium owned

by SMITH and his wife in Florida
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section1956(a)(1)(B)(i)
COUNT 18
Conspiracy to Defraud the IRS, 18 U.S.C. § 371
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-44 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
Conspiracy to Defraud the United States
2. From approximately March 1996 through December 2003, the exact dates
unknown to the Grand Jury, the defendants, JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK, in the
Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, did unlawfully, willfully and
knowingly, conspire, combine, confederate, and agree together and with each other and with
others, both known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to defraud the United States by impeding,
- 23 of 41 impairing, obstructing, and defeating the lawful functions of the Internal Revenue Service of the
United States Treasury Department in the ascertainment, computation, and assessment of income
taxes owing by JOSEPH H. SMITH and by two of the Zgoznik Entities -- ZJA/IFA and IBS.
Objects of the Conspiracy
3. The objects of the conspiracy were for the coconspirators to conceal the income
SMITH was receiving through the DOC Fidelity Account and through payments from ZJA, IFA,
and IBS and to conceal and disguise the tax consequences to SMITH and those Zgoznik Entities.
Manner and Means by which the Conspiracy was Carried Out
The manner and means by which the conspiracy was sought to be accomplished included,
among others, the following:
4. SMITH’s receipt of income deposited into and earned through the DOC Fidelity
Account was concealed by transferring Diocese funds into the account without recording the
transfers as compensation to him on the Diocese records or having the Diocese report the
transfers to the IRS and by placing the account under his personal control while maintaining it
under the name and tax identification number of the Diocese.
5. SMITH received kickback income by checks from ZJA, IFA, and IBS payable
either to JHS Enterprises or Tee Sports, Inc., which ZGOZNIK caused to be falsely recorded on
the books and records of the Zgoznik Entities as payments for legal, consulting and other
professional services purportedly rendered under those names.
6. In many instances, false and fictitious invoices under the names of JHS
Enterprises and Tee Sports, Inc., were prepared and maintained in the files of ZJA and IFA,
- 24 of 41 reflecting purported legal, consulting and other professional services rendered, in the amounts of
the kickback payments.
7. ZGOZNIK caused the income tax returns of ZJA and IFA to claim false
deductions for payments to JHS Enterprises and Tee Sports as purported business expenses, even
though the payments were not for such expenses and were actually non-deductible kickbacks.

8. SMITH deposited the kickback checks payable to JHS Enterprises into the JHS
Enterprises Account and recorded the deposits on a register for that account as consulting
income.
9. SMITH deposited most of the kickback checks payable to Tee Sports Inc., into
the DBA Tee Sports Account.
10. SMITH prepared and filed false federal income tax returns which did not report
his income deposited into or earned through the DOC Fidelity Account and which concealed and
disguised his receipt of income from the Zgoznik Entities as follows:
a. SMITH did not report the transfers into the DOC Fidelity Account, his
subsequent expenditures from the account, or the dividend and capital gains earned through the
account on his returns.
b. SMITH reported the kickback checks payable to JHS Enterprises as
business gross receipts on the JHS Enterprises Schedule C but reduced the amount of reported
profit by claiming offsetting deductions for purported business expenses which he was not
entitled to claim. The Schedule C deductions included the type of office, travel and other
expenses that he would be entitled to deduct if honestly incurred in operating an actual business,
but which were not actually incurred in such a business. By reporting the kickbacks as purported
- 25 of 41 business receipts, the Schedule C gave the false apparent legitimacy to the deducted business
expenses.
c. For the years 1999, 2000, and 2002, SMITH did not report the kickback
income he received from Zgoznik Entity checks payable to Tee Sports, Inc., on his federal
income tax returns or on the income tax returns of Tee Sports, Inc.
d. For 2003, SMITH reported most of the kickback check payments to Tee
Sports, Inc., on the S Corporation tax return for that corporation, and then reported the S
Corporation income as flow-through income on his personal return, thereby disguising the nature
of the income as being corporate business receipts.
11. During an IRS examination (“audit”) of SMITH’s 1999 federal income tax return,
ZGOZNIK represented SMITH, during which time ZGOZNIK made false representations to the
IRS Revenue Agent that JHS Enterprises was a legal and consulting business, the receipts of
which represented payments for consulting services, and concealed the fact that most of the
amounts reported as receipts were actually kickback payments. ZGOZNIK also fraudulently
presented documentation of expenses purportedly incurred by SMITH in the course of the
supposed consulting business. ZGOZNIK also misrepresented that SMITH had no other sources
of income than reported on his return, thereby concealing SMITH’s income from kickback
checks payable in the name of Tee Sports, Inc.
12. During IRS audits of ZJA/IFA’s June 1998, June 1999, and June 2000 fiscal year
tax liabilities, ZGOZNIK provided a false unsigned corporate income tax return for the June
2000 tax year and false and fictitious invoices from JHS Enterprises and Tee Sports to support
deductions for purported consulting services that were actually kickback payments to SMITH.
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Overt Acts
In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect its illegal objects, the following overt acts,
among others, were committed in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, and
elsewhere: a. On or about April 1, 1996, and August 22, 1997, checks written on a
Diocese account in the amounts of $185,000 and $85,000, respectively, were deposited into the
DOC Fidelity Account.
13. From approximately June 30, 1997, through December 26, 2003, checks were
periodically issued on accounts of ZJA, IFA, and IBS payable in the names of JHS Enterprises
and Tee Sports, Inc., for purported legal, consulting, and other services.
14. During 1997 through 2002, invoices in the names of JHS Enterprises and Tee
Sports, Inc., for purported legal, consulting and other services were prepared and placed in the
files of ZJA and IFA.
15. During 1999, 2000, 2002, and 2003, ZJA, IFA, and IBS checks payable to Tee
Sports, Inc., were deposited to the DBA Tee Sports Account.
16. On or about October 16, 2000, October 18, 2001, October 15, 2002, and October
10, 2003, respectively, SMITH filed federal income tax returns for the years 1999 through 2002
that were false in the manner described above.
17. On May 8, 2001, during the IRS audit of SMITH’s 1999 federal income tax
return, ZGOZNIK, as representative of SMITH, provided information and documents to the IRS
Revenue Agent that were false and misleading in the manner described above.
18. ZGOZNIK caused federal corporation income tax returns to be prepared and filed
for ZJA for the fiscal year 1999, on or about March 17, 2000, and for the fiscal years 2001 and
- 27 of 41 2002, and the tax period from July through December 2002, on or about July 30, 2003, that were
false in the manner described above.
19. During the audit of ZJA/IFA for the June 1999 and June 2000 fiscal years,
ZGOZNIK provided the IRS Revenue Agent conducting the audit:
a. copies of false purported invoices from JHS Enterprises in support of
deductions claimed on the June 1999 corporation income tax return;
b. an unsigned corporation income tax return of ZJA/IFA for the June 2000
fiscal year that was false in the manner described above; and
c. copies of three false purported invoices from Tee Sports, Inc., in support
of deductions claimed on the unsigned corporation income tax return.
All in violation of Title 18, Section 371, United States Code.
COUNT 19
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 1999 Form 1040
The Grand Jury further charges:

1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-44 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about October 16, 2000, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
the defendant, JOSEPH H. SMITH, did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income
Tax Return, Form 1040, for the calendar year 1999, which was verified by a written declaration
that it was made under the penalties of perjury and was filed with the Internal Revenue Service
on his and his wife’s joint behalf, which said return the defendant did not believe to be true and
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believed, said return was false as follows:
a. the return reported ordinary dividends of $2,941 on line 9 and on Schedule
B, which failed to include additional dividends of approximately $2,153
the defendant had that year from the DOC Fidelity Account;
b. the return overstated the amount of capital loss claimed on line 13, as
computed on Schedule D, by failing to report capital gains the defendant
had that year from the sales of securities held through the DOC Fidelity
Account, as follows:
Capital loss reported on Schedule D: $4,200
Capital loss claimed on line 13: $3,000 (maximum allowed)
Unreported capital gains: $3,117
Correct Schedule D and line 13 loss: $1,083
c. the return contained a Schedule C, reporting a purported net profit of
$59,126 for a sole proprietorship business identified as Joseph H. Smith,
doing business as JHS Enterprises, which disguised the nature of the
income reported on the Schedule and falsely understated his income in
that:
(i) Part I of Schedule C reported gross receipts and sales from the
purported business in the amount of $107,964, when, in fact, that
amount was not income from a trade or business, reportable on
Schedule C, but actually consisted of the following payments
deposited into the JHS Enterprises Account:
Kickback payments from ZJA $77,964
Kickback payments from the Insurance Firm $15,000
Improper payment from the CCA $15,000
and;
(ii) Part II of Schedule C claimed expenses totaling $48,838 which the
defendant was not entitled to claim, in that the amounts claimed
were not deductible expenses of a business and were not
deductible from the income reported in Part I of the Schedule;
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had that year in the form of checks from ZJA payable to Tee Sports, Inc.,
which he deposited into the DBA Tee Sports Account; and

e. the return reported (on line 22) that the defendant had total income of
$197,713, when, in fact, the defendant’s actual total income for that year
was approximately $284,255.
All in violation of Title 26, Section 7206(1), United States Code.
COUNT 20
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2000 Form 1040
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-44 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about October 18, 2001, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
the defendant, JOSEPH H. SMITH, did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income
Tax Return, Form 1040, for the calendar year 2000, which was verified by a written declaration
that it was made under the penalties of perjury and was filed with the Internal Revenue Service
on his and his wife’s joint behalf, which said return the defendant did not believe to be true and
correct as to every material matter, in that, as the defendant then and there knew well knew and
believed, said return was false as follows:
a. the return reported ordinary dividends of $5,806 on line 9 and on Schedule
B, which failed to include additional dividends of approximately $702 the
defendant had that year from the DOC Fidelity Account;
b. the return overstated the amount of capital loss claimed on line 13, as
computed on Schedule D, by failing to report capital gains the defendant
had that year from the sales of securities held through the DOC Fidelity
Account and by including a false carry forward loss from the prior year’s
return, as follows:
- 30 of 41 Capital loss reported on Schedule D and line 13: $2,352
Unreported capital gains: $ 643
Falsely claimed carry forward loss: $1,200
Correct Schedule D and line 13 loss: $ 509
c. the return contained a Schedule C, reporting a purported net profit of
$47,058 for a sole proprietorship business identified as Joseph H. Smith,
doing business as JHS Enterprises, which disguised the nature of the
income reported on the Schedule and falsely understated his income in
that:
(i) Part I of Schedule C reported gross receipts and sales from the
purported business in the amount of $101,375, when, in fact, that
amount was not income from a trade or business, reportable on
Schedule C, but actually consisted of the following payments
deposited into the JHS Enterprises Account:
Kickback payments from ZJA: $86,375
Kickback payments from the Insurance
Firm or improper payment from the CCA: $15,000

and;
(ii) Part II of Schedule C claimed expenses totaling $54,317 which the
defendant was not entitled to claim, in that the amounts claimed
were not deductible expenses of a business and were not
deductible from the income reported in Part I of the Schedule;
d. the return failed to report income of approximately $106,932 the
defendant had that year in the form of checks from ZJA payable to Tee
Sports, Inc., which he deposited into the DBA Tee Sports Account;
e. the return failed to report income of approximately $15,000 the defendant
had that year, representing the amount of income he deposited into the
JHS Enterprises Account that he did report as gross receipts on the JHS
Enterprises Schedule C; and
f. the return reported (on line 22) that the defendant had total income of
$209,111, when, in fact, the defendant’s actual total income for that year
was approximately $386,705.
All in violation of Title 26, Section 7206(1), United States Code.
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Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2001 Form 1040
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about October 15, 2002, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
the defendant, JOSEPH H. SMITH, did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income
Tax Return, Form 1040, for the calendar year 2001, which was verified by a written declaration
that it was made under the penalties of perjury and was filed with the Internal Revenue Service
on his and his wife’s joint behalf, which said return the defendant did not believe to be true and
correct as to every material matter, in that, as the defendant then and there knew well knew and
believed, said return was false as follows:
a. the return reported ordinary dividends of $3,087 on line 9 and on Schedule
B, which failed to include additional dividends of approximately $325 the
defendant had that year from the DOC Fidelity Account;
b. the return overstated the amount of capital loss claimed on line 13, as
computed on Schedule D, by failing to report capital gains the defendant
had that year from the sales of securities held through the DOC Fidelity
Account, as follows:
Capital loss reported on Schedule D: $5,243
Capital loss claimed on line 13: $3,000 (maximum allowed)
Unreported capital gains: $2,293
Correct Schedule D and line 13 loss: $2,950
c. the return contained a Schedule C, reporting a purported net profit of

$45,374 for a sole proprietorship business identified as Joseph H. Smith,
doing business as JHS Enterprises, which disguised the nature of the
income reported on the Schedule and falsely understated his income in
that:
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purported business in the amount of $112,753, when, in fact, that
amount was not income from a trade or business, reportable on
Schedule C, but actually consisted of kickback payments from ZJA
and IFA deposited into the JHS Enterprises Account; and
(ii) Part II of Schedule C claimed expenses totaling $67,379 which the
defendant was not entitled to claim, in that the amounts claimed
were not deductible expenses of a business and were not
deductible from the income reported in Part I of the Schedule; and
d. the return reported (on line 22) that the defendant had total income of
$208,639, when, in fact, the defendant’s actual total income for that year
was approximately $276,393.
All in violation of Title 26, Section 7206(1), United States Code.
COUNT 22
Making a false return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1),
Defendant: JOSEPH H. SMITH; Re: 2002 Form 1040
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-34 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about October 10, 2003, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
the defendant, JOSEPH H. SMITH, did willfully make and subscribe a U.S. Individual Income
Tax Return, Form 1040, for the calendar year 2002, which was verified by a written declaration
that it was made under the penalties of perjury and was filed with the Internal Revenue Service
on his and his wife’s joint behalf, which said return the defendant did not believe to be true and
correct as to every material matter, in that, as the defendant then and there knew well knew and
believed, said return was false as follows:
- 33 of 41 a. the return reported ordinary dividends of $2,745 on line 9 and on Schedule
B, which failed to include additional dividends of approximately $11 the
defendant had that year from the DOC Fidelity Account;
b. the return overstated the amount of capital loss claimed on line 13, as
computed on Schedule D, by including a false carry forward loss from the
prior year’s return, as follows:
Capital loss reported on Schedule D and line 13: $2,484
Falsely claimed carry forward loss: $2,243
Correct Schedule D and line 13 loss: $ 241
c. the return contained a Schedule C, reporting a purported net profit of

$27,165 for a sole proprietorship business identified as Joseph H. Smith,
doing business as JHS Enterprises, which disguised the nature of the
income reported on the Schedule and falsely understated his income in
that:
(i) Part I of Schedule C, reported gross receipts and sales from the
purported business in the amount of $88,050, when, in fact, that
amount was not income from a trade or business, reportable on
Schedule C, but actually consisted of the following payments
deposited into the JHS Enterprises Account:
Kickback payments from ZJA: $83,650
Board of Directors fees: $ 4,400
and;
(ii) Part II of Schedule C claimed expenses totaling $60,885 which the
defendant was not entitled to claim, in that the amounts claimed
were not deductible expenses of a business and were not
deductible from the income reported in Part I of the Schedule;
d. the return failed to report income of approximately $31,260 the defendant
had that year in the form of checks from IFA payable to Tee Sports, Inc.,
which he deposited into the DBA Tee Sports Account; and
e. the return reported (on line 22) that the defendant had total income of
$200,861, when, in fact, the defendant’s actual total income for that year
was approximately $295,249.
All in violation of Title 26, Section 7206(1), United States Code.
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Corruptly Endeavoring to Obstruct and Impede, 26 U.S.C. § 7212(a),
Defendants: JOSEPH H. SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK
Re: IRS audit of SMITH’s 1999 Form 1040
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. From approximately April 23 through May 18, 2001, the exact dates unknown to
the Grand Jury, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, the defendants, JOSEPH H.
SMITH and ANTON ZGOZNIK, did corruptly endeavor to obstruct and impede the due
administration of the internal revenue laws (Title 26, United States Code) as follows:
BACKGROUND OF THE IRS AUDIT
3. On May 8, 2001, Revenue Agent Egan of the IRS conducted an examination
(“audit”) of the 1999 personal income tax return filed by SMITH, pursuant to a pre-arranged
appointment. SMITH did not appear at the audit, and, instead, signed a power of attorney
authorizing ZGOZNIK to appear and represent him.
4. Based on the information and documents presented by ZGOZNIK on behalf of
SMITH during the audit, the IRS accepted SMITH’s return as filed, without any changes or
proposed assessments of additional taxes.

OBJECTS OF THE OFFENSE
5. The objects of the offense were for the defendants to cause false and fraudulent
documents and information to be presented to the IRS during an audit of SMITH’s 1999 tax
return, in order to prevent the IRS from determining (a) the true nature of the amounts reported
- 35 of 41 as receipts on the JHS Enterprises Schedule C, (b) the non-deductibility of the expenses claimed
as deductions on that Schedule C, (c) the failure of the return to report other income SMITH had
that year in the form of checks from ZJA payable to Tee Sports, Inc., and (d) the additional taxes
owing to the IRS by SMITH.
MANNER AND MEANS
The manner and means by which the defendants corruptly endeavored to obstruct and
impede the due administration of the internal revenue laws are as follows:
6. During the audit, ZGOZNIK made false representations and omissions of material
facts concerning the amounts reported as business receipts on Schedule C of the return, in the
name of JHS Enterprises, including:
a. that JHS Enterprises was a legal and consulting business conducted by
SMITH from his home as an attorney and CPA, including services
involving valuations and investments;
b. that SMITH had a local client base and also worked for clients of other
large law firms throughout northern Ohio; and
c. that SMITH had engagement letters with clients by which he billed them
on an hourly basis;
when, in fact, the amounts reported as receipts of JHS Enterprises were not receipts of a legal
and/or consulting business, but were actually kickback and other improper payments received by
SMITH through checks payable to JHS Enterprises.
7. In response to the Revenue Agent’s inquiry whether all sources of SMITH’s
income were reported on the return, ZGOZNIK falsely represented that all sources were
reported, and failed to disclose other kickback income ZGOZNIK paid and caused to be paid to
SMITH in the form of ZJA checks payable to Tee Sports, Inc.
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by SMITH in the ordinary course of the JHS Enterprises legal and consulting business, when, in
fact, SMITH had not incurred the expenses in the course of a business and was not entitled to
deduct the amounts against the kickback and other income reported as receipts on the Schedule
C.
All in violation of Title 26, Section 7212(a), United States Code.
COUNT 24
Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Document, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2),
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: ZJA unsigned Form 1120 for tax year June 2000
The Grand Jury further charges:

1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about September 18, 2000, a U.S. Corporation Income Tax Return, Form
1120, of Z J & Associates, Inc., was filed with the Internal Revenue Service, reporting activity of
the corporation for the period from July 1 through December 31, 1999. The return was signed by
defendant ZGOZNIK as preparer.
3. During an IRS examination (“audit”) of ZJA, an IRS Revenue Agent (“Revenue Agent”) notified the
certified public accountant (“CPA”) representing the corporation that because ZJA had not complied with
the procedure to change its tax year from a June fiscal year to a calendar year, the Form 1120 would have
to be adjusted to include the period through the end of the June 2000 fiscal year.
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unsigned Form 1120, reporting the income and expenses claimed by the corporation for the entire fiscal
year ended June 30, 2000, for use in the audit.
5. On or about January 22, 2003, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division,
the defendant, ANTON ZGOZNIK, did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counsel, and
advise the preparation and presentation to the Internal Revenue Service, of an unsigned U.S.
Corporation Income Tax Return, Form 1120, of Z J & Associates, Inc., for the tax year ended
June 30, 2000, for use in the audit described above, which was false and fraudulent as to a
material matter, in that, as the defendant then and there well knew and believed:
a. the supporting schedule of “Other deductions” (“Statement 4”) listed $342,474 of deductions for
“Consulting Services,” when, in fact, that amount included checks totaling $62,363.50 payable to JHS
Enterprises and checks totaling $78,566 payable to Tee Sports Inc., which were not payments for such
expenses of the corporation; and
b. the total amount of “Other deductions” on Statement 4 and on line 26 of the return was falsely inflated
by including non-deductible kickback payments to Joseph H. Smith of approximately $140,929.50.
All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
COUNT 25
Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120 for tax year June 2001
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and incorporated by
reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about July 30, 2003, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, the defendant, ANTON
ZGOZNIK, did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counsel, and advise the preparation and
presentation to the Internal Revenue Service, of a U.S. Corporation Income
- 38 of 41 Tax Return, Form 1120, of Institutional Financial Advisors, Inc., for the tax year ended June 30,
2001, which was false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that, as the defendant then and
there well knew and believed:
a. the supporting schedule of “Other deductions” (“Statement 5”) listed
$85,778 of “Management Consulting” expenses, when, in fact, that

amount actually consisted of checks payable to JHS Enterprises, which
were not payments for such expenses of the corporation;
b. Statement 5 listed $50,000 of “Professional Advisory Services” expenses,
when, in fact, that amount actually consisted of checks payable to Tee
Sports Inc., which were not payments for such expenses of the
corporation; and
c. the total amount of “Other deductions” on Statement 5 and on line 26 of
the return was falsely inflated by including non-deductible kickback
payments to Joseph H. Smith of approximately $135,778.
All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120 for tax year June 2002
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about July 30, 2003, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, the
defendant, ANTON ZGOZNIK, did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counsel, and advise
the preparation and presentation to the Internal Revenue Service, of a U.S. Corporation Income
Tax Return, Form 1120, of Institutional Financial Advisors, Inc., for the tax year ended June 30,
2002, which was false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in that, as the defendant then and
there well knew and believed:
a. the supporting schedule of “Other deductions” (“Statement 3”) listed
$124,375 of “Management Consulting” expenses, when, in fact, that
amount actually consisted of checks payable to JHS Enterprises, which
were not payments for such expenses of the corporation;
b. Statement 5 listed $15,000 of “Professional Advisory Services” expenses
when, in fact, that amount actually consisted of checks payable to Tee
Sports Inc., which were not payments for such expenses of the
corporation; and
c. the total amount of “Other deductions” on Statement 5 and on line 26 of
the return was falsely inflated by including non-deductible kickback
payments to Joseph H. Smith of approximately $139,375.
All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
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Aiding and Assisting Preparation of a False Return, 26 U.S.C. § 7206(2)
Defendant: ANTON ZGOZNIK; Re: IFA Form 1120S for tax period July-December 2002
The Grand Jury further charges:
1. The allegations in paragraphs 1-29 of the General Allegations are re-alleged and

incorporated by reference in this count, as though fully restated herein.
2. On or about July 30, 2003, in the Northern District of Ohio, Eastern Division, the
defendant, ANTON ZGOZNIK, did willfully aid and assist in, and procure, counsel, and advise
the preparation and presentation to the Internal Revenue Service, of a U.S. Income Tax Return
for an S Corporation, Form 1120S, of Institutional Financial Advisors, Inc., for the tax period
July 1 through December 31, 2002, which was false and fraudulent as to a material matter, in
that, as the defendant then and there well knew and believed:
a. the supporting schedule of “Other deductions” (“Statement 3”) listed
$48,985 of “Management Consulting” expenses, when, in fact, that
amount actually consisted of checks totaling $32,725 payable to JHS
Enterprises and checks totaling $16,260 payable to Tee Sports Inc., which
were not payments for such expenses of the corporation; and
b. The total amount of “Other deductions” on Statement 5 and on line 19 of
the return was falsely inflated by including non-deductible kickback
payments to Joseph H. Smith of approximately $48,985.
All in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7206(2).
A TRUE BILL.
Original document – Signatures on file with the Clerk of Courts, pursuant to the E-Government
Act of 2002.
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